0A9-29-92



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

JIM SMITH, **as** Secretary of State of the State of Florida, CASE NO. 80,438

Appellant,

vs.

AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC.; DELTA AIRLINES, INC.; FLAGSHIP AIRLINES, INC.; NORTHWEST AIRLINES, INC.; UNITED AIRLINES, INC.; USAIR, INC.; FLORIDA PORTS COUNCIL, INC.; PANAMA CITY PORT AUTHORITY; PORT EVERGLADES AUTHORITY; GATX TERMINALS CORPORATION; and, HVIDE SHIPPING INCORPORATED,

Appellees,

and

TERENCE M. BROWN,

Intervenor/Amicus Curiae.

## INITIAL BRIEF OF INTERVENOR/AMICUS CURIAE TERENCE M. BROWN

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In 1988, the Florida Constitution was amended to add Article XI, § 6. This new constitutional section created the Taxation and Budget Reform Commission ("the Commission"), comprised of twenty-five (25) voting members, eleven (11) selected by the governor, seven (7) selected by the President of the Senate, and seven (7) selected by the Speaker of the House of Representatives. [Appendix A, p. 4; Appendix C, p. 2; Appendix D, p. 21. Under Art. XI, §6, Fla, Const., the Commission was authorized to recommend statutory changes to the the legislature and to propose revisions to Florida Constitution, to be placed directly on the ballot, dealing with taxation or the State budgetary process. Pursuant to Art. XI, §6(e), Fla. Const., the Commission is required to submit its constitutional revision proposals to the Secretary of State at least one hundred eighty (180) days prior to the general election. [Appendix A, p. 4; Appendix C, p. 2; Appendix D, p. 21.

а

On April 22, 1992, under the authority provided it under Art. XI, \$6, Fla. Const., the Cornmission considered and voted in favor of the following proposed constitutional amendment:

> SECTION 3. Taxes; Exemptions --(e) Effective January 1, 1993, leaseholds and other possessory interests created after November 5, 1968, in property of the United States, of the state or any of its political subdivisions, municipalities, authorities, districts, agencies or other public bodies corporate of the state, shall be taxed as real property for ad valorem tax purposes.

All such leasehold interests created prior to November 5, 1968, including renewal options and extensions thereof provided in the initial lease, shall be taxed as intangible personal property.

On May 7, 1992, the proposed amendment, designated as Proposition 7, was submitted to the Secretary of State as the department responsible for furnishing to the Supervisor of Elections of each county the designated number, ballot title and substance of each proposed constitutional amendment which is to appear on the ballot. The ballot summary submitted to the Secretary of State by the Commission with Proposition 7 states:

> Subjects Leaseholds in Government Owned entered into since 1968 to ad Property valorem taxation. All leaseholds in government owned property entered into prior to 1968, and subsequent renewal options and extensions provided in the initial lease, shall be taxed as intangible personal property.

[Appendix A, pp. 4-5; Appendix C, p. 2; Appendix D, pp. 2-31.

On July 22, 1992, Appellees filed suit in the Circuit Court, Second Judicial Circuit, In and For Leon County, Florida, challenging Proposition 7 and seeking a final judgment declaring the ballot summary for Proposition 7 defective; declaring Proposition 7 unconstitutional; declaring that Proposition 7 is a violation of 49 U.S.C. § 1513, and enjoining Appellant from submitting Proposition 7 to the Supervisor of Elections for inclusion on the November, 1992 ballot. [Appendix A]. In response, Appellant filed a motion to dismiss and an answer to the complaint on August 12, 1992. [Appendix B; Appendix C]. Opposition to the complaint was also filed by Intervenor BROWN

- 2 -

through **a** Petition for Leave to Intervene, **ox** Alternatively, to File Amicus Curiae Brief, Memorandum of Law in Support, Motion *to* Dismiss, and Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Petition for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, all dated August 17, 1992.

а

а

A final hearing in this case was held before the Honorable L. Ralph Smith on Tuesday, August 25, 1992. On August 31, 1992, the trial court entered Final Judgment in favor of Appellees, holding, <u>inter alia</u>, that the ballot summary for Proposition 7 failed to meet the statutory requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), by failing to clearly and unambiguously summarize the contents and effect of the proposed constitutional amendment and enjoining Appellant from placing Proposition 7 on the November, 1992 general election ballot. [Appendix D]. Appeal to the First Distict Court of Appeal was instituted by Appellant by Notice of Appeal, dated August 31, 1992. On September 4, 1992, the First District Court of Appeal transferred this appeal to this Court certifying the issues raised herein to be great public importance and requiring immediate resolution by this Court.

Since the Final Judgment entered by the lower court enjoins Appellant from placing the subject constitutional amendment on the November, 1992 general election ballot, Intervenor BROWN requests that this Court review and consider this appeal on an emergency basis so that a ruling in this case can be obtained prior to the subject election in time sufficient to allow Appellant to place the subject constitutional amendment on the November, 1992 general election ballot.

- 3 -

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The lower court's entry of the Final Judgment enjoining Appellant from placing the proposed constitutional amendment designated as Proposition 7 on the November, 1992 general election ballot violated the long standing principle that courts should not interfere with the public's right to vote on proposed constitutional amendments. The ballot summary for Proposition 7 is not clearly and conclusively defective. Rather, it provides the public with the substance of the amendment and notice of the chief purpose of the measure as required by § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991). Since the deficiencies in the ballot summary raised by Appellees and the lower court are matters which are either not required to be addressed in the "summary" mandated by § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991) or are items which do not destroy the total required effect of the summary, there has been no clear and convincing showing of a constitutional or statutory violation mandating the action taken by the trial court.

- 4 -

#### ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN THE ENTRY OF ITS FINAL JUDGMENT SINCE THE PROPOSITION 7 BALLOT SUMMARY COMPLIES WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF § 101.161, FLA. STAT. (1991), AND APPLICABLE LAW.

The constitutional amendment, designated as Proposition 7, submitted **by** the Commission to Appellant provides:

SECTION 3. Taxes; Exemptions --(e) Effective January 1, 1993, leaseholds and other possessory interests created after November 5, 1968, in property of the United States, of the state or any of its political subdivisions, municipalities, authorities, districts, agencies or other public bodies corporate of the state, shall be taxed as real property for ad valorem tax purposes. All such leasehold interests created prior to November 5, 1968, including renewal options extensions thereof provided in the and initial lease, shall be taxed as intangible personal property.

The ballot summary for Proposition 7 which is the focus of the lower court's Final Judgment states that the proposed amendment:

Subjects leaseholds in government owned property entered into since 1968 to ad valorem taxation. All leaseholds in government owned property entered into prior to 1968, and subsequent renewal options and extensions provided in the initial lease, shall be taxed as intangible personal property.

In its Final Judgment, the lower court held that the ballot summary failed to meet the statutory requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), in several material respects. The trial court found that the ballot summary's use of the term

- 5 -

valorem taxation" without making reference to "ad "real property" fails to provide the voter with notice that the tax rate for such leaseholds will be shifted from the intangible rate to a much higher real property tax rate and fails to alert the public to the fact that the taxing power with respect tothese leaseholds would be shifted from the state to local governments. The lower court also held that the ballot summary inaccurately creates the impression that the subject leaseholds are taxed **as** intangible personal property for the first time, and fails to disclose the real purpose of the amendment, i.e., to exempt a select class of taxpayers from the newly imposed and substantially higher real property rate. The trial court additionally found that the ballot summary fails to accurately reflect the date on which the line will be drawn for taxation of the subject leaseholds at the intangible tax rate or the ad valorem tax rate. Lastly, the lower court held that the summary fails to clearly indicate if historic exemptions for property **used** for educational, literary, scientific, religious and charitable purposes, for public purpose uses by private lessees, and for government-to-government leases will remain exempt from taxation or not. After detailing these listed deficiencies, the trial court held that the ballot summary fails to explain the real purpose and principal ramifications of the amendment and thus, fails to inform the voters of its true effect. [Appendix D].

a

а

\$ 101.161, Fla. Stat. (1991), sets out the prerequisites for submission of a constitutional amendment or other public

- 6 -

measure to the vote of the people by specifying the form and contents of the summary of the amendment to be provided to the voters. § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), provides in pertinent part:

Whenever a constitutional amendment or other public measure is submitted to the vote of the people, the substance of such amendment or other public measure shall be printed in clear and unambiguous language on the ballot ...The wording of the substance of the amendment or other public measure and the ballot title to appear on the ballot shall be embodied in the staxation and budget reform commission proposal...The substance of the amendment or other public measure shall be an explanatory statement, not exceeding 75 words in length, of the chief purpose of the measure. The ballot title shall consist of a caption, not exceeding 15 words in length, by which the measure is commonly referred to or spoken of. [Emphasis supplied].

The lower court's finding "that the real purpose of the provision is to exempt **a** select class of taxpayers from the newly imposed and substantially higher real property rate" is inaccurate and without support. Contrary to the lower court's ruling, the subject ballot summary complies with § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991), because it clearly states the "chief purpose" of the proposed amendment. That purpose is to tax leaseholds on government owned property entered into since 1968 at an ad valorem tax rate whereas leaseholds entered into prior to 1968 will be taxed at the intangible personal property tax rate. The chief purpose and the substance of the amendment are explained: Leaseholds created in government property since

- 7 -

а

**1968** will **be** taxed as real property; those before 1968 will be **taxed as** intangible personal property.

The provisions of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. contemplate providing the public with a "summary" of the substance of the amendment and its chief purpose. The statute does not require or contemplate addressing, in specific detail, each facet or ramification of a proposal. In fact, attempting to analyze every facet of the proposed amendment as apparently mandated by the lower court in its Final Judgment would make it virtually impossible to ever comply with the 75 word limit Of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991). In City of Boca Raton v. Palm Beach County, 546 so. 2d 116 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989), the court reviewed an order denying a petition to enjoin a referendum on a proposed amendment to the county charter and noted the trial court's discussion of the 75 word limit of § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1987):

> The question for the Court *to* decide is whether it sufficiently informs the voters of what they are to decide so that they may intelligently cast their ballots. One must agree that most ordinances could not be written in 75 words or less without criticism. Considering the fact that the proposal must be submitted to the voters in 75 words or less, interpretations, analyzations, prognostications, and sources of disinformation are inevitable to follow.

<u>Id</u>. at 117.

The requirements of § 101,161, Fla. Stat., were addressed by this Court in <u>Grose V. Firestone</u>, **422 so.** 2d **303** (Fla. **1982).** In that case, this Court reviewed the judgment of a circuit court on **a** proposed amendment to Art. I, § **12, Fla.** 

- 8 -

а

Const., relating to the right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. The plaintiffs sought an injunction to prevent the placement of the proposed amendment on the ballot alleging that the proposed language was misleading and did not fully advise the electors of the effect of the amendment. Finding the ballot summary to comply with the requirements of § 101.161, Fla. Stat., this Court stated:

> Appellants effectually seek an exhaustive explanation reflecting their interpretation of the amendment and its possible future effects. To satisfy their request would require a lengthy history and analysis of the law of search and seizure and the exclusionary rule. Inclusion of all possible effects, however, is not required in the ballot summary. <u>Smathers V. Smith</u>, 338 **So**. 2d 825 (Fla, 1976).

Ld. at 305. Quoting language from its prior decision in <u>Askew</u> V. Firestone, 421 So, 2d 151, at 155 (Fla. 1982):

The requirement for proposed constitutional amendment ballots is the same as for all ballots, i.e.,

that the voter should not be misled and that he have an opportunity to know and be on notice as to the proposition on which he is to cast his vote....All that the Constitution requires or that the law compels is that the voter have notice of that which he must decide....What the law requires is that the ballot be fair and advise the voter sufficiently to enable him intelligently to cast-his ballot. Hill v. Milander, 72 So. 2d 796, 798

(Fla. 1954) [emphasis supplied].

а

Simply put, the ballot must give the voter fair notice of the decision he must make. <u>Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metro-politan Dade County</u>, **394 So.** 2d 981 (Fla. 1981),...

## Grose V. Firestone, supra, at 305.

а

The discrepancies noted by the lower court simply do not rise to the level of failing to advise the public of the substance of the amendment and its chief purpose as required by § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991). For example, the court's semantic analysis of the ballot summary's reference to "ad valorem taxation" without reference to "real property" is an argument which places form over substance. The term "ad valorem" is defined in Black's Law Dictionary, Fifth Edition, as follows:

## AD VALOREM According to value. A tax imposed on the value of property. The more common ad valorem tax is that imposed by states, counties, and cities on real estate....[Emphasis supplied].

The use of this term when looked at in the form of its most common usage, by its very definition, corresponds with the concept of real property. Moreover, the use of the phrase "ad ballot summary when read valorem taxation" in the in conjunction with the use of the phrase "taxed as intangible personal property" provides the public with direct notice that the "ad valorem taxation" reference applies to real property as opposed to personal property. When faced with similar non-substantive semantic attacks on ballot summary language, this Court has repeatedly rejected those arguments. People Against Tax Revenue Mismanagement, Inc. V. County of Leon, 583 So. 2d 1373 (Fla. 1991); In Re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General, English - The Official Language of Florida, 520 So. 2d 11 (Fla, 1988); In Re Advisory Opinion to the Attorney General,

- 10 -

Limitation of Non-Economic Damaaes in Civil Actions. 520 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1988); and, <u>Miami Dolphins, Ltd. v. Metropolitan Dade</u> <u>County, supra</u>.

a

In addition, the lower court's finding that the use of the terms "since 1968" and "prior to 1968" renders the language of the ballot summary fatally defective is also a misconception of the requirements of § 101.161, Fla. Stat. (1991). The primary intent of § 101.161, Fla. Stat. (1991) is to provide the public with a "summary" of the substance of the amendment and its chief purpose. That is precisely what the language of the subject ballot summary does: it summarizes, in general terms, the dates in which the differing tax rates are to be applied to the subject leaseholds. Here, the failure to note the specific day and month in 1968 at which the line is drawn does not render the ballot summary misleading. Rather, the summary provides the public with a general overview of the "chief purpose" of the amendment which is all the statute requires. Carroll v. Firestone, 497 So. 2d 1204, at 1206 (Fla. 1986).

Lastly, the analysis of the trial court's finding that the ballot summary fails to alert the voters that the taxing power with respect to such leaseholds are to be shifted from the state to local governments or whether or not the proposed amendment eliminates the historic exemptions for property used for educational, literary, scientific, religious and charitable organizations, fox public purpose used by private lessees, and for government-to-government leases should be directed to the inquiry of whether or not § 101.161(1), Fla. Stat. (1991)

- 11 -

requires providing the public with every facet or ramification of a proposed amendment. In <u>Carroll v. Firestone</u>, <u>id</u>., this Court rejected the Appellant's argument that the ballot summary failed to comply with the requirements of § 101.161(1), Fla. stat., and stated:

> Appellants/petitioners that argue this summary does not adequately inform the voter the substance of the amendment as of required by section 101.161. We disagree. Ιt is not necessary to explain every ramification of a proposed amendment, only the chief purpose. <u>Miami Dolphins v.</u> <u>Metropolitan Dade County</u>, 394 **So**. 2d **981** (Fla, 1981). The summary makes clear that the amendment authorizes state lotteries and that the revenues from such lotteries, subject to legislative overide, will go to the State Education Lotteries Trust Fund. That is the chief purpose of the amendment and is all that the statute requires. It is true, as appellants/petitioners urge, that the legislature may choose not to authorize lotteries, not appropriate the proceeds to educational uses, and even to divert the proceeds to other uses. However, those questions go to the wisdom of adopting the amendment and it is for the proponents and opponents to make the case for adopting or rejecting the amendment in the public forum.

Id. at 1206.

а

a

As distinctly stated by this Court in <u>In Re Advisory</u> <u>Opinion to the Attorney General, English - The Official</u> <u>Language of Florida</u>, <u>supra</u>, in upholding the language of the ballot summary under review:

> We cannot accept the contention that the seventy-five word ballot summary required by the statute must explain, in detail, what the proponents hope to accomplish by the passage of the amendment.

Id. at 13.

Moreover, in rejecting the amendment opponents argument that the ballot summary was invalid because it did not advise the voters that there were presently no limits on the terms of affected offices or failed to reveal that the proposed amendment contained a severability clause in <u>Advisory Opinion</u> to the Attornev General - Limited Political Terms In Certain Elective Offices, 592 So. 2d 225 (Fla, 1991), this Court held:

> We have construed section 101.161 to require that "the ballot be fair and advise the sufficiently voter to enable him intelligently to cast his ballot." Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151, 155 (Fla, 1982) (emphasis omitted) (quoting Hill V. Milander, 72 So. 2d 796, 798 (Fla, 1954)). The ballot title and summary must state "in clear and unambiguous language the chief purpose of the measure. " Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d at 155 (Fla. 1982). However, it need not explain every detail or ramification of the proposed amendment. <u>Carroll v. Firestone</u>, 497 **So.** 2d 1204, 1206 (Fla, 1986); <u>Grose v. Firestone</u>, 422 So. **2d** at 305; Miami Dolphins Ltd. V. Metropolitan Dade County, 394 So. 2d 981,987 (Fla, 1981). \* \* \*

> ...A ballot summary may be defective if it omits material facts necessary to make the summary not misleading. <u>see Askew V.</u> <u>Firestone</u>, 421 So. 2d at 158 (Ehrlich, J., concurring). However, we do not find the failure to indicate the current lack of term limits to be misleading..

## Id. at 228.

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