IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JIM SMITH, as Secretary of State of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

vs .

AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC.; DELTA
AIRLINES, INC.; FLAGSHIP AIRLINES,
INC.; NORTHWEST AIRLINES, INC.;
UNITED AIR LINES, INC.; USAIR,
INC.; FLORIDA PORTS COUNCIL, INC.;
PANAMA CITY PORT AUTHORITY; PORT
EVERGLADES AUTHORITY; GATX
TERMINALS CORPORATION, and HVIDE
SHIPPING, INCORPORATED,

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES,
AMERICAN AIRLINES, INC.; DELTA AIRLINES, INC.;
FLAGSHIP AIRLINES, INC.; NORTHWEST AIRLINES, INC.
UNITED AIR LINES, INC.; USAIR, INC.

On certified appeal from the Circuit Court for the Second Judicial Circuit

BARRY RICHARD
GREENBERG, TRAURIG, HOFFMAN,

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A valid ballot summary must include a clear and unambiguous explanation of the measure's chief purpose and material changes in the law, must not include language which is affirmatively misleading, and must not omit material facts necessary to make the summary not misleading. The trial Court correctly found that the ballot summary on Proposition 7 failed to meet all of the essential requirements for validity and was defective in four separate respects.

The summary fails to notify the voter that Proposition 7 would change the tax rate on leaseholds and government owned property which is used for commercial and residential purposes from the intangible personal property rate, at a maximum of 2 mills, to the real property rate, at a maximum of 30 mills. The proposal itself specifies taxation as "real property," whereas the summary never mentions real property and refers only to "ad valorem" taxation, a term which refers to both real and personal property.

Proposition 7 imposes the real property rate on all lease-holds and government owned property created after November 5, 1968, but preserves the intangible personal property rate for such lease-holds created prior to November 5, 1968. The wording of the ballot summary creates the impression that leaseholds created prior to 1968 will be taxed for the first time and fails to inform the voter that leaseholds prior to November 5, 1968 are actually receiving a substantial tax benefit.

The ballot summary refers only to leaseholds "entered into since 1968" and those "entered into prior to 1968". It thus fails to inform the voter that such leaseholds entered into during the last two months of 1968 will be taxed as real property and those entered into during the first ten months of 1968 will be preserved at the intangible personal property rate.

It appears that Proposition 7 is not intended to eliminate the historic exemptions for educational, literary, scientific, religious, charitable and public purpose uses. However, the ballot summary indicates that all leaseholds would be taxed by virtue of Proposition 7.

While it is not necessary for a ballot summary to explain every detail and all possible effects of a proposition, it must give notice of all material changes in existing law. A summary can easily be written which clearly, unambiguously and accurately summarizes Proposition 7 in only 54 words.

This Court has recognized that the availability of information regarding a proposed constitutional amendment from public sources is not an acceptable alternative to a complete and accurate ballot summary.

The lower Court did not deny the people the right to vote on Proposition 7, but insisted that the proponents of the proposition adequately inform the voters of what they were being asked to vote upon.

ARGUMENT

This Court has set forth the essential elements of a valid ballot summary:

- 1. It must include a clear and unambiguous explanation of the measure's "chief purpose" and material changes in the law. Askew v. Firestone, 421 So. 2d 151 (Fla. 1982); Wadhams v. Board of County Comm'rs, 567 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 1990), Section 101.161 Fla. Stat.'
- 2. It may not include language which is affirmatively misleading. <u>Evans v. Firestone</u>, 457 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984).
- 3. It may not omit material facts necessary to make the summary not misleading. Advisory

 Opinion to the Atty. Gen., 592 So.2d 225 (Fla. 1991); Askew v. Firestone, supra.

The trial Court found that the ballot summary for Proposition 7 failed to meet all of the foregoing requirements. The Court grouped the defects which it found in the summary into four separate categories as discussed below.

Ι

The trial Court correctly found that the ballot summary fails to notify the voter that Proposition 7 would change the tax rate on leaseholds in government owned property used for commercial and residential purposes from the intangible personal property rate to the real property rate.

The appellant Secretary of State ["the Secretary"] states that, "The chief purpose of Proposition 7 is to constitutionalize

¹ Section 101.161 refers to "chief purpose" in the singular. However, logic and this Court's opinions dictate that the summary must give notice of all material changes in existing law.

taxation of leaseholds in government property." [Brief of Appellant, **p.** 13] The statement suggests that Proposition 7 simply elevates existing law from statutory to constitutional status. Such a conclusion can indeed reasonably be inferred from the ballot summary, a fact which will be discussed further below. It is, however, clearly erroneous.

The very first sentence of Proposition 7 provides that leaseholds in government owned property entered into after November 5, 1968, "shall be taxed as real property for ad valorem tax purposes." [emphasis supplied] The provision would effectuate a major change in the longstanding tax policy of this state. It would have a substantial impact upon a targeted group of taxpayers and, indirectly, consumers purchasing goods and services from such taxpayers.

Leaseholds in government owned property, to the extent that they are used for residential and commercial purposes, are currently subject to ad valorem taxation as intangible personal property. §196.199(2)(b), Fla. Stat. Effective January 1, 1993, the intangible tax rate in Florida will be 2 mills, the constitutional maximum pursuant to Article IV, Section 2 of the Florida Constitution. As the trial Court noted, Proposition 7 would require that such leaseholds be taxed as real property at a rate of up to 30 mills as provided in Article VII, Section 9(b), Florida Constitution. Hence, adoption of Proposition 7 would result in a potential increase to such taxpayers of up to fifteen times the current rate.

While Proposition 7 expressly requires that taxation of such entities, "shall be taxed as real property for ad valorem tax purposes," the ballot summary makes no reference whatever to "real Instead, it states that the proposed amendment "subjects leaseholds in government owned property entered into since 1968 to ad valorem taxation." [emphasis supplied] The term "ad valorem" tells the voter nothing about the actual change to be effected because it applies to both real and personal property. "Ad valorem" is defined by Section 192.001, Florida Statutes, as "a tax based upon assessed value of property". The context of the statutory provision clearly indicates that it applies to personal, tangible and intangible property. The statutory definition of ad valorem is consistent with its general dictionary definition: "imposed at a rate percent of value," Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary (1988); "a tax levied according to the value of the property, merchandise, etc. being taxed," The Random House Dictionary of the English Language, (2d Ed. 1987).

Amicus provides the Court with **a** partial citation to the Black's Law Dictionary definition of ad valorem, deleting the important part shown below in shaded text:

AD VALOREM...According to value. A tax imposed on the value of property. The more common ad valorem tax is that imposed by st tes counties, and cities on real estate...Ad valorem taxes, can, however, be imposed upon personal property; e.g. a motor vehicle tax may be imposed upon the value of an automobile and is therefore deductible as a tax. A tax levied on property or an article of commerce in proportion to its value, as determined by assessment or appraisal.

Even the abbreviated <u>Black's</u> definition cited by Amicus simply states that real property tax is the more common form of ad valorem taxation, not the more common use of the term ad valorem. The undeniable fact is that by any definition, statutory, legal or English language, ad valorem taxation is not limited to real property.

Amicus arques that the public is given sufficient notice of the fact that the phrase "ad valorem taxation" in the first sentence of the summary really means real property taxation when it is read in conjunction with the use of the phrase "taxed as intangible personal property" in the second sentence of the summary. However, such a conclusion does not necessarily follow. As noted above, the Secretary has asserted that the "chief purpose" of the proposition is to "constitutionalize taxation of leasehold and government property," and this is precisely the danger of the summary as worded. A voter reading the summary could rationally conclude from the first sentence that the purpose of Proposition 7 is simply to constitutionalize current law requiring that government owned leaseholds entered into after 1968 be taxed at an ad valorem fate, and that the discretion to tax them as real or personal property continues to be left to the Legislature. The same voter could rationally conclude from the second sentence of the summary that Proposition 7 limits the Legislature's discretion with regard to leaseholds entered into prior to 1968 and mandates that they be taxed as intangible personal property. While such a conclusion logically flows from the ballot summary, it is patently and significantly inaccurate. In any case, the summary is at best

ambiguous. The drafter of the summary could easily have avoided the problem by simply using the term "real property" just as it was used in Proposition 7 itself.

The Secretary states that the trial Court's chief concern "seems to be that voters are not told the <u>exact</u> tax rate that will be imposed on post-1968 leases" and that to do so would be impossible because of the substantial variance in tax rates from one area to another. The statement misses entirely the trial Court's point. The problem is not the failure of the summary to advise the voter of the "exact tax rate" that would be imposed under Proposition 7, but the failure to inform the voter that the <u>maximum</u> tax rate would be increased by more than 15 times for commercial and residential property.

Finally, Amicus asserts that this entire issue is simply one of "semantics" and "form over substance". It is quite unlikely that Amicus could locate many taxpayers who would consider the difference in the terms "2 mills" and "30 mills" to be simply a matter of semantics or who would consider an increase in taxes of up to fifteen times the current rate to be a matter of form over substance.

The trial Court correctly found that the ballot summary is misleading because it creates the impression that leaseholds in government owned property entered into before 1968 would be taxed for the first time, and fails to inform the voter that such leaseholds would actually be granted a significant tax privilege.

As previously noted, leaseholds in government owned property which are used for commercial or residential purposes are currently taxed at the intangible personal property rate. The ballot summary states, "All leaseholds in government owned property entered into prior to 1968 . . . shall be taxed as intangible personal property." The trial court found that the statement is misleading because the phrase "shall be taxed" creates the impression that such leaseholds are to be taxed for the first time. The Court further found that the summary was misleading because it, "fails to inform the voter that the real purpose of the provision is to exempt a select class of taxpayers from the newly imposed and substantially higher real property rate." [Final Judgment, p. 4] In fact, testimony before the Commission indicated that the major impetus to the provision was to exempt a specific group of taxpayers, primarily the Daytona Beach Speedway in Valusia County. [Pl. Exh. 5, Tr. 5/6/92, pp. 35, 36, 44, 47] While the ballot summary certainly does not have to inform the voters of which entities would be exempted, it surely must give them reasonable notice that the purpose of the **second** provision is to grant a major exemption to a select class of taxpayers.

The Secretary's only response is that the subject sentence "precisely states the tax treatment accorded pre-1968 leases."

[App. Brf., p. 18] This Court has held on two separate occasions that the fact that a ballot provision is technically accurate does not render the provision valid if it fails to inform the voter of its actual purpose. Askew v. Firestone, supra; Wadhams v. Board of County Com'xs, supra. In Askew the ballot summary was a completely accurate statement which appeared to impose a new obligation on public officers when, in fact, it weakened an existing obligation. In Wadhams the entire proposal was included in the ballot rather than an explanatory statement. This Court struck the provision from the ballot stating:

Similar to the ballot summary at issue in <code>Askew</code>, the present ballot "is deceptive, because although it contains an absolutely true statement, it omits to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statement made not misleading." <code>Askew</code>, 421 So.2d 158 (Ehrlich, J., concurring). The only way a voter would know what changes were being effected by an affirmative vote on the ballot would be to know what section 2.11 of the county charter provided prior to the amendment.

Wadhams, supra at 416.

Unlike <u>Askew</u> and <u>Wadhams</u>, the ballot summary on Proposition 7 is not even an entirely accurate statement of what the proposal does. However, it clearly fails to inform the voter that the singular purpose of the reference to pre-November 5, 1968 leaseholds is to create an exemption for a limited few, Indeed, it not only exempts a select class from the real property rate that Proposition 7 would newly impose upon all other similarly situated taxpayers,

but it creates a new constitutionally protected <u>right</u> to the intangible personal property rate for such class. Currently, the Legislature possesses the discretion to impose either rate on such taxpayers.

III

The trial Court correctly found that the ballot summary fails to inform the voter that leaseholds in government owned property created during the first ten months of 1968 would be taxed as intangible personal property and leaseholds created during the last two months of 1968 would be taxed as real property.

Proposition 7 subjects leaseholds in government owned property created after November 5, 1968 to the real property tax rate and preserves the intangible personal property rate for such leaseholds created prior to November 5, 1968. The ballot summary, however, states that Proposition 7 subjects leaseholds in governmental owned property "entered into since 1968 to ad valorem taxation" and that such leaseholds in government owned property "entered into prior to 1968" shall be taxed at the intangible personal property rate. Read literally, the summary indicates that such leaseholds entered into during the entire year 1968 are not taxed at all. The trial court found that the summary was defective because it specifically failed to inform the voter that leaseholds created during the last two months of 1968 would be subjected to tax as real property and that those created during the first 10 months of 1968 could not be taxed at a rate higher than intangible personal property. The court noted that, "at best . . . the

language falls far short of the statutory requirement that it be 'Clear and unambiguous' in stating the purpose of the proposed amendment.'' [Final Judgment, p. 5]

It cannot be denied, and appellants make no attempt to deny, that the language of the ballot summary is clearly and unnecessarily misleading with respect to the year 1968. The Secretary's only defense is that there was no proof that any leases were actually entered into in the year 1968. Counsel makes the statement that "a proposed amendment should not be removed from the ballot because of a problem that is strictly hypothetical," citing Justice Overton's concurring opinion in Askew v. Firestone, supra at 157. [Brief of Appellant, p. 18] A careful scrutiny of Justice Overton's opinion and, for that matter, the entire opinion of the Court fails to disclose any such statement. More importantly, the concept should not be adopted by this Court.

The premise of the Secretary's statement is that a ballot summary, even though indisputably misleading on its face as to a material fact, should be upheld unless opponents can factually prove that there would be an actual impact in connection with the subject of the misleading statement in the event of passage. Such a burden would be unworkable. It would often be difficult, if not impossible for the opponents of a measure to obtain such information, particularly in the limited time frame available for a timely challenge to a ballot provision. Furthermore, as a matter of public policy as well as practicability, the burden should be upon the drafters of the ballot summary to be certain that it is

ate, not upon the opponents of the proposition to prove what the effect of a misleading summary would be.

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